IN THE SUPREME COURT FLORIDA

OSVALDO ALMIEDA,)		
)		
Appellant,)		
)		
vs.)	CASE NO.	89,402
)		
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
)		
Appellee.)		
)		
)		

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, In and For Broward County [Criminal Division].

ORIGINAL

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and appellee the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida. In this brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

The symbol "R" will denote the Record on Appeal.

The symbol "SR" will denote the Supplemental Record on Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 16, 1993, Appellant, Osvaldo Almeida, was charged by indictment with premeditated murder R 2197-2198. Jury selection began on December 4, 1995. At the close of the state's case, and at the close of all the evidence, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal R 1532,1535. Appellant's motions were denied R 1533,1536. Appellant was found guilty of murder in the first degree R 2400-2401.

The jury's recommendation was 9-3 for the death penalty R 2437.

On November 1, 1996, the trial court sentenced Appellant to death by electrocution for the murder conviction R 2474-2482. On November 13, 1996, the trial court filed its sentencing order R 2482-2491.

Appendix. A timely notice of appeal was filed R 2497. On January 15, 1997, Appellant's conviction involving the prior violent felony was reversed. Almeida v. State, 687 So. 2d 37 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. granted, (Fla. 89,821 May 22, 1997).

- 1 -

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

The relevant facts are as follows. On October 13, 1993, the body of Chequita Counts was found outside the Days Inn at 1700 West Broward Boulevard in Broward County, Florida R 1239. A broken Guiness Stout bottle and a disposable cigarette lighter were found near the body R 1242,1282. The police found a key to room 318 in Counts' shorts R 1243. James Stull was staying in room 318 with Counts R 1282. The bottle and lighter were checked for fingerprints, but no prints of value could be obtained R 1250,1292.

Jeffrey Turk testified that he was the night auditor of the Days Inn and was doing paperwork when he heard what sounded like the backfire of a car R 1298. Turk looked out the window and saw a white sedan R 1299. It looked like there were 2 or 3 people in the car R 1300. One person was in the driver's seat, one person was in the passenger's seat and one person was in the back seat R 1302,1308. The vehicle was stationary for quite a while R 1302. The driver looked at Turk for a few seconds R 1318. The vehicle eventually moved at about 2 miles per hour, and left the lot R 1303. As the vehicle was turning away, Turk saw something out of the corner of his eye R 1303-04. Turk turned and saw a person standing R 1303-04. The person was standing at about a 45 degree angle backwards with legs staggered and one hand was holding a bottle R 1304. In slow motion the hands went over the

person's head and the person went down R 1304. Turk called 911 R 1304. The police arrived thirty seconds later R 1305.

Turk testified that he could not identify Appellant R 1306. Turk was shown a photograph but could not identify anyone R 1313. Turk was looking out the window the full time R 1305. Turk never saw anyone standing at the passenger's or driver's side of the vehicle R 1319. In an earlier statement, Turk had indicated the vehicle looked like a 4-door vehicle like an Impala R 1309. Turk testified that the reference to an Impala was merely meant to be a size reference R 1309.

Dr. Daniel Selove, an associate medical examiner, testified that on October 13, 1993, he performed an autopsy on Chiquita Counts R 1497. There was a gunshot wound to the chest R 1500. It was a close contact wound R 1501. The gun was within an inch of the skin R 1501. The bullet passed on a slightly downward trajectory and struck the heart R 1508. The gun barrel with respect to Counts was sloping slightly downward R 1521. The bullet then struck the spinal cord and passed out through the back R 1508. A person would fall immediately to the ground after receiving such injuries R 1510. Toxicology tests on Counts showed cocaine and alcohol in her blood R 1511. There was .147 grams percent alcohol which is equivalent to 5 or so beers R 1511, and there was .13 milligrams of cocaine which is the typical amount for a person to get high on R 1512. The cause of death was the gunshot wound to the heart R 1514.

The state and defense stipulated that the victim in this case was Chiquita Counts R 1531-32.

Donna Marchese, an expert in forensic serology and a DNA specialist, testified that she was provided with oral, anal and vaginal swabs taken from Counts R 1375. The oral swab tested positive for blood and seminal fluid R 1376. The vaginal and anal swabs tested negative for blood and seminal fluids R 1376. Marchese was provided with blood samples from Counts and Appellant which she compared to the oral swab and which she performed a DNA analysis R 1377. The DNA on the oral swab matched Chequita Counts R 1378. The oral swab did not match Appellant R 1384,1382,1386.

Officer Randy Mink of the city of Sunrise Police Department testified that on November 29, 1993, he came into contact with Appellant at 5:16 p.m. R 1391-92. Mink testified that he read Appellant his Miranda rights off a written form R 1393-1399.

Detective John Abrams of the Ft. Lauderdale Police Department testified that on November 29, 1993, he took a taped statement from Appellant R 1426. The taped statement was played to the jury R 1430-1457. The following facts came out of the taped statement. Appellant had been read his Miranda rights by the Sunrise Police Department R 1431. Appellant knows about the homicide at the Days Inn on West Broward Boulevard on October 14th R 1433. Appellant was hesitant to talk about it initially because he was scared and confused R 1434. Appellant was ashamed of what he did R 1434. Appellant explained that

- 4 -

he got off work one night and drove by a neighborhood off Broward Boulevard R 1437. Appellant saw a prostitute R 1437. She offered him a good time R 1439. Appellant asked for a blow job R 1441. They drove around R 1437. Appellant paid her \$20 and she gave him oral sex R 1437. She told Appellant to pull over by a house R 1437. She got out of the car and told Appellant to wait R 1437. She talked to three men for no more than 5 minutes R 1437,1443. She then got back in the car and asked Appellant to drop her off at the hotel R 1443. Once they got to the hotel she demanded more money because she thought she deserved more R 1437,1444. Appellant told her that he did not have any more money R 1437. She started insulting him R 1437,1444. Appellant a cracker, a bastard and a couple of other names R 1444. got out of the car when she realized that he was not going to give her any more money R 1446. Appellant reversed the car so that he could get ready to leave R 1446. He had taken a gun from underneath his seat and placed it in his lap R 1447. He drove the car forward and called to her R 1446. When she came to the driver's side of the car Appellant shot her R 1446,1438. She was shot from a distance of two feet R 1447. Appellant explained that he shot her because she insulted him by calling him all kinds of names R 1449. Appellant was also mad because she was not satisfied with the money he gave her R 1450. Appellant was not thinking when he shot her R 1450. Shooting was the only thing he had in his mind R 1450-51. Appellant was not planning to shoot her, it came to him "all of a sudden" R 1453. Appellant regrets what he did

- 5 -

R 1457. Appellant is still confused and cannot believe he could do something like that R 1457. Appellant knew he always had a drinking problem but he never R 1457. Appellant had already consumed a whole six-pack before he picked her up R 1457.

Detective Abrams testified that he did not take a statement from James Stull who was a roommate of Chequita Counts R 1461. Despite that fact that Stull was investigated as a possible suspect, a sample of his blood was never collected R 1463. Abrams testified that he performed a photo identification lineup that included Appellant to Jeffrey Turk R 1466. Turk did not identify Appellant R 1466. Abrams went back to speak with Turk due to discrepancies between Appellant's statement and what Turk saw R 1466-67.

Detective Richard Engels of the Broward County Sheriff's Office testified that on November 30, 1993, he met with Detective Mink at the city garage in Sunrise and was asked to process a white Ford LTD R 1331. There was a large, black gun bag protruding out from underneath the seat R 1335. Inside the bag was a .44 magnum Smith and Wesson revolver, State's Exhibit 21 R 1335,1339. It was fully loaded R 1336. The gun was processed for prints but there were none R 1339. The windows of the car were not tinted R 1344. Hair and fibers were collected from the car R 1344.

Dennis Grey, a firearms examiner from the Broward County Sheriff's Office, testified that he examined the projectile (State's Exhibit 1) and determined it to be a .44 magnum R 1348,1350. Based on

- 6 -

its rifling characteristics, it is Grey's opinion that the bullet could have been fired from either a Llama revolver or a Smith and Wesson revolver chambered for a .44 magnum R 1352. In Grey's opinion the bullet was fired from State's Exhibit 20 R 1363.

PENALTY PHASE

Detective John Abrams testified that he identified the body of a Ms. Leath on October 7, 1993 R 1734. Leath was a prostitute who had been shot one time R 1734-35. Abrams discussed the case with Appellant Appellant confessed to the shooting R 1738. Appellant's confession was taped and played to the jury R 1739-58. In the taped statement Appellant indicated that he was driving by a bad neighborhood and he saw this good looking woman R 1743. She whistled to Appellant and he pulled his car over R 1748. She approached the car and asked Appellant if he was interested in getting some action R 1750. Appellant asked her how much and she said \$10 for head R 1750. Appellant said, "Okay" and she got in the car R 1750. She told him to park at the house R 1750. She told him to cut off the engine R 1751. Appellant changed his mind because she had a very dirty physical appearance and stink breath R 1743-44. Appellant asked her to leave the car R 1744. Instead, she called her sister who had a knife R 1744. She said that her sister had a knife so he better give her his wallet R 1758. The prostitute then took the keys out of the ignition and said that if he did not give her the wallet she would walk out with the keys R 1744. Appellant did as he was told R 1744. She took all the money

- 7 -

and threw the wallet back in Appellant's face R 1744. She walked away R 1745. She had called him a son of a bitch R 1756. The prostitute and her sister were laughing about what had happened R 1745. Appellant was very upset R 1745. Appellant started the car and drove by her and shot her R 1755,1745. Appellant fired only one shot R 1756. Appellant then left R 1745. Appellant did not remember where this shooting occurred R 1745.

Abrams testified that Appellant was cooperative R 1763, and that without Appellant's confession this would have been a difficult case to solve R 1767.

Dr. Thomas Macaluso, an expert in the field of forensic psychiatry, testified that he was appointed to evaluate Appellant R 1772,-1773,1777. Dr. Macaluso gathered information as to Appellant's background and conducted a clinical interview with Appellant R 1778. Appellant was born in Massachusetts but moved to Brazil after his biological parents had separated R 1778. Appellant was the only child in the family taken to Brazil R 1846. A child being taken away from his mother is traumatizing R 1847. Appellant lived in Brazil from approximately the ages of 5 to 12 R 1783. There were allegations that Appellant was the victim of child abuse in Brazil R 1778. Formal charges were filed with regard to the abuse R 1778. Appellant moved back to the United States with his biological mother R 1778. Once again there was violence and family conflicts in the home R 1778.

- 8 -

Appellant was the victim of verbal abuse at home and ridicule at school R 1779. At one point Appellant suffered from self-inflicted stab wounds to one of the lower extremities R 1779. When Appellant became married there were marital problems which stemmed from his perception that his wife had been unfaithful to him R 1779. Appellant had been exposed to violence against and by women R 1779. Appellant had been raised where there was hiding of secrets of infidelity in the family R 1779. This carried over to his marriage where Appellant became obsessed with his wife and thought she was unfaithful R 1779. Appellant became depressed, drank heavily, and contemplated suicide R 1779. Appellant then became a workaholic and became more depressed and very lonely R 1780. Appellant sought prostitutes after work R 1780.

Dr. Macaluso concluded that Appellant was suffering from clinical depression R 1781. Dr. Macaluso came to the conclusion based on experiences in evaluating other depressed individuals R 1781. Appellant had symptoms of clinical depression such as a harsh upbringing, victimization as a child, low self-esteem in the formative years R 1781. Appellant also had other indicators supporting the diagnosis such as sleep disturbance, suicidal ideation, and consumption of alcohol R 1782.

Dr. Macaluso interviewed Appellant a second time R 1782. At the age of 6 or 7 there was a sexual exposure to Appellant's cleaning lady and Appellant may have been molested by the cleaning lady R 1783. Appellant's mother and stepfather paid for a prostitute for Appellant

- 9 -

as a birthday present when he was 12 years old R 1783. This event produced a lot of sexual anxiety and Appellant was unable to perform sexually R 1783. When Appellant lived in Brazil there were two episodes where he was sexually molested by a teenager R 1783. It may have involved a step sibling and anal intercourse may have been involved R 1783-84. At the age of 14 there was mutual masturbation with his stepfather in this country R 1784. In Brazil Appellant was not well nourished R 1789. Food was withheld from him in favor of the other children R 1789. Appellant was ridiculed for being skinny R 1789. In the United States Appellant was ridiculed for his thick foreign accent R 1789. This ridicule contributed to Appellant's low self-esteem R 1789.

Dr. Macaluso concluded that Appellant suffers from Dysthymic disorder -- a chronic depressive condition R 1790. This is based on the symptoms of sleep depression, low self-esteem, suicidal ideations, and alcohol abuse R 1790. There are also signs that Appellant suffered from major depression R 1790. Appellant used the words "traitorous" and "deceitful" in describing the victims R 1791. Appellant came to this conclusion due to the physical and sexual abuse by women R 1791. He was brought up believing women were deceitful R 1791. His mother carried on extramarital affairs which she tried to hide, but which his father discovered R 1791. In Brazil he was raised by his stepmother and the same sort of things occurred R 1792. When Appellant was at a formative age, prostitution was sanctioned by very important people in

his upbringing R 1792. This sowed the seeds for how Appellant views women R 1792. The sexual abuse created the link between sex and violence in Appellant's mind R 1793. When in his teens Appellant suffered from a self-inflicted stab wound R 1794. It was a form of self-punishment indicating an underlying depressive illness R 1794.

Dr. Macaluso concluded Appellant was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense R 1795-96. With regard to religion, unlike other inmates, Appellant saw himself as sinful rather than reformed R 1800. Appellant's depression is chronic in nature R 1801. However, it is treatable with antidepressant medication R 1801. The structured environment of jail helps keep someone with Appellant's condition together a little better R 1808. Alcohol would make Appellant's condition worse R 1803. The seeds of Appellant's Dysthymic Disorder go back 15 years R 1807. Any child put into Appellant's upbringing would have high potential for the depressive illness that Appellant suffers R 1805.

Dr Abbey Strauss, an expert in the field of forensic psychiatry and psychopharmacology, reviewed the materials in this case and met with Appellant three times for psychiatric interviews R 1858-60. There was a significant history of alcohol abuse and a history of physical, sexual and emotional abuse R 1863. Appellant was very lacking in relationships and comforts R 1863. He suffered from depression for many years R 1863. Appellant suffered from Dysthymia R 1864. He found a great deal of relief in religion R 1865. To understand how Appellant

got to where he is one must understand where he comes from R 1865. When he was 12 his mother brought a prostitute to him R 1866. He was physically beaten and sexually abused by his father R 1866. Appellant's father had affairs with two women who were sisters and who became pregnant R 1866. The children then came to live with Appellant and his family R 1866. Appellant's father beat him with a broomstick R 1866. There were times when Appellant was not fed and had to sleep outside R 1866. Appellant's father did not provide emotion R 1867.

At the age of 17 Appellant married a 14 year old girl -- Francis R 1869. She was not loyal to him sexually R 1870. Appellant's life was once again thrown into chaos R 1870. As a child he was skinny and other children would call him Magriello R 1870. Other children would beat him up and ridicule him because he was skinny R 1870. Appellant never had anyone to show him some good and how to deal with things properly R 1870. This turned into tremendous anger and when Appellant was with the prostitute there was a mixture of confusion and sexual relief when Appellant was doing something he believed to be morally decrepit R 1871. Appellant was a time bomb waiting to explode R 1871. There was no sense of right and wrong from instances of Appellant's family endorsing prostitution R 1872. Appellant was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense R 1872-73. The psychological baggage that Appellant carried with him plus the alcohol was like lighting a match to gasoline R 1873. Alcohol gave Appellant the courage to do things he ordinarily

would not have done otherwise R 1873. Appellant did not have the psychological makeup to overcome alcohol R 1874. Appellant's drinking a six-pack before going to the prostitute is consistent with his character R 1874. In Dr. Strauss' opinion, the alcohol impacted Appellant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct and his ability to conform to the requirements of the law R 1875. Alcohol reduced Appellant's ability to think about the ramifications of his behavior R 1875. After the alcohol wore off he could not believe what he had done R 1876. This could explain why Appellant cooperated and confessed R 1876.

Dr. Strauss testified that Appellant's interest in religion was real R 1877. While in jail Appellant was forced to examine himself R 1877. It was Dr. Strauss' opinion that Appellant told him the truth R 1882. Appellant had periods of marked impairment of ability to function in a reasonable and appropriate manner R 1897. At the time of the offense, for a very brief period, Appellant was not in control of his facilities and could not control his behaviors R 1899. Appellant suffered from the mental illness or defect of Dysthymia R 1900. Appellant did not appreciate the consequences of his actions R 1904. Appellant was insane at the time of the offense R 1899.

Dr Lee Bukstel, an expert in the fields of clinical psychology and neuropsychology, testified that he did a clinical interview and psychological and neuropsychological test of Appellant R 1955. There were 10 to 15 hours of testing R 1935. Dr. Bukstel spent between 55

and 60 hours on the case and met with Appellant approximately ten times R 1938,1972. Bukstel also reviewed the police records, medical records, school records, family background and Appellant's statements to police R 1937. Appellant suffers from an inability of brain function R 1940. Appellant has neuropsychological deficits related to a disorder in mental development R 1940. Certain parts of Appellant's brain did not develop normally R 1940. This could be from an early traumatic brain injury R 1940. Based on medical records, Appellant did have a minor head injury when he was young R 1940. There was also the possibility of infections or toxic exposures R 1941. Some performances could be influenced by environmental considerations R 1941.

Dr. Bukstel testified that cultural background must also be considered R 1941. Appellant had learning problems in school R 1942. Alcohol abuse may have played a role in boosting some neuro deficits, but this was probably a weaker factor R 1942. Appellant suffered from a mixed personality disorder with prominent paranoid features R 1943. Appellant had problems in reasoning and problem solving R 1944. There were no indications of Appellant faking during the testing R 1946. Appellant's religious commitment is sincere R 1951. Appellant was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense R 1955. Appellant has a personality disorder R 1958. At the time of the offense, Appellant may have been experiencing a more severe depression R 1958. Appellant was separated from his wife and child and was depressed, anxious and agitated that his life

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