IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

NOV 8 1997/

Chief Deputy Clark

OSVALDO ALMEIDA,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 89,402

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0857238
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I - This Court rejected Appellant's arguments in the appeal from his conviction for the murder of Marilyn Leath. In any event, Appellant's comment during interrogation regarding a lawyer was merely rhetorical or, at worst, an equivocal comment that did not require clarification under <u>Davis v. United States</u>, 512 U.S. 452 (1994). Moreover, the comment was not made during <u>Miranda</u> warnings, as Appellant contends, since Appellant had previously signed a written waiver and substantive questioning had begun. Finally, <u>Davis</u> can be applied retroactively to Appellant's case.

Issue II - Appellant had been given formal <u>Miranda</u> warnings and had signed a written waiver prior to questioning regarding this murder. Thus, the detectives on this case were not required to readvise Appellant of his <u>Miranda</u> rights.

Issue III - Appellant failed to preserve this issue for review by failing to seek a curative instruction. To the extent he makes arguments here that he failed to make before the trial court, those arguments are procedurally barred. Regardless, all are without merit. The prosecutor did not mislead the jury by implying that only those factual circumstances outlined in the hypotheticals qualified as second-degree murder, nor did he argue "facts not in evidence" as that objection is commonly understood, misstate the law, or relate his personal opinion that Appellant was guilty only of first-degree murder. Were the comments improper, however, they were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of Appellant's confession that he premeditated the murder of Chiquita Counts.

Issue IV - Under the rule of completeness, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling that the State could introduce all or parts of the other confessions, or question the lead detective about them, in order to rebut Appellant's claim to the jury that his confession was involuntary. Even if it were error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt given the colloquy during Appellant's confession to the Counts murder regarding his understanding of his rights.

Issue V - Appellant's sentence is proportionate to those in other cases under similar facts. Appellant had one weighty aggravator based on his prior murder of Marilyn Leath, which the trial court found "significant." In contrast, Appellant's mitigation was collectively of little weight.

Issue VI - The weight accorded each mitigating factor is within the discretion of the trial court. Where, as here, no reasonable person could say that Appellant's mitigation was not entitled to little (or some) weight, the trial court did not abuse its discretion. That Appellant disagrees does not require reversal.

Issue VII - Appellant's conviction for the Leath murder was reinstated by the Fourth District Court of Appeal following remand from this Court. Therefore, Appellant's "prior violent felony" aggravator remains intact.

Issue VIII - When read in its entirety, the trial court's written sentencing order establishes that the trial court did not give undue weight to the jury's recommendation.

Issue IX - The trial court enumerated its findings in its written sentencing order as required by law.

Issue X - When read in its entirety, the trial court's written sentencing order establishes that the trial court did not apply a presumption of death upon finding the existence of a single aggravating factor.

Issue XI - The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to allowing additional voir dire during the penalty phase regarding the existence of, and facts underlying, the "prior violent felony" aggravating factor.

Issue XII - The amendment to the capital sentencing statute providing for life without parole as a sentencing option did not become effective until after the date of commission of Appellant's crime. Absent a specific request by Appellant that the trial court instruct his jury on this option, the trial court would have committed an ex post facto violation by instructing on it sua sponte.

Issues XIII and XIV - This Court has provided sufficient guidance in the admission of facts underlying a prior violent felony conviction in the penalty phase. Limited facts were admitted at Appellant's trial, and they did not become the feature of the trial.

Issue XV - Appellant opened the door to the State's questioning of Detective Abrams during the penalty phase regarding discrepancies in Appellant's confession to the Leath murder. Regardless, hearsay is admissible in the penalty phase where

Appellant had ample opportunity to question the testifying witness.

To the extent admission of such testimony was error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue XVI - By questioning Dr. Macaluso about Appellant's sanity at the time of the crime, Appellant opened the door to the State's questioning of Dr. Strauss regarding same. Moreover, Appellant put his mental state at issue. Thus, the State was properly allowed to question Dr. Strauss about the bases for his opinions. Were the testimony allowed in error, however, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue XVII - This Court has repeatedly upheld the use of electrocution as a constitutional method of execution.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER APPELLANT MADE AN EQUIVOCAL REQUEST FOR COUNSEL DURING POLICE QUESTIONING, WHETHER APPELLANT MADE THE ALLEGED REQUEST DURING THE GIVING OF MIRANDA WARNINGS OR DURING SUBSTANTIVE QUESTIONING, AND WHETHER DAVIS AND OWEN SHOULD APPLY RETROACTIVELY TO APPELLANT'S CASE (Restated).

The identical issues raised by Appellant in this case were raised by him before this Court in his appeal from his conviction for the murder of Marilyn Leath. State v. Almeida, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S521 (Fla. Aug. 28, 1997). Although the opinion itself does not detail the precise arguments that Almeida made, this Court should take judicial notice of the briefs in that case, as the arguments are identical. See § 90.202(6) & 90.203, Fla. Stat. (1995).

In an abundance of caution, however, the State responds to Appellant's arguments in this case as follows: Detective Mink of the Sunrise Police Department testified at the suppression hearing that he and Detective Allard began interviewing Appellant at the police station at 5:16 p.m. (T 127-28). After providing Appellant a copy of a rights waiver form, Detective Mink read each individual right to Appellant and asked him if he understood them. Appellant responded that he did and initialed each right as it was read. After the detective read the entire form, Appellant agreed to speak to them without an attorney and signed the waiver section of the form. (T 128-36). At that point, the Miranda warnings were complete, and the waiver was in effect.

Thereafter, Detective Mink questioned Appellant about the murder of Frank Ingargiola at Higgy's Restaurant. After initially denying any involvement, Appellant confessed that he killed Mr. Ingargiola. (T 136-37). At 5:30 p.m., they turned on a tape recorder to memorialize Appellant's confession. (T 137). At the beginning of the tape, the following colloquy occurred:

Q [By Detective Mink] All right. Prior to us going on this tape here, I read your Miranda rights to you, that is the form that I have here in front of you, is that correct? Did you understand all of these rights that I read to you?

A [By Appellant] Yes.

Q Do you wish to speak to me now without an attorney present?

A Well, what good is an attorney going to do?

Q Okay, well you already spoke to me and you want to speak to me again on tape?

Q (By Detective Alllard [sic]) We are, we are just going to talk to you as we talked to you before, that is all.

A Oh, sure.

(ST 5-6) (emphasis added). Detective Mink testified that he interpreted Appellant's remark as "[a] comment, not a question. Just a comment," which he did not believe he needed to clarify. (T 143). Detective Allard testified that he interpreted Appellant's remark similarly: "I basically took it as like he was commenting on the fact, not as much as - I trying to - just like a negative comment towards having an attorney or something like that. I took

that as a negative comment." (T 177). He did not interpret it as a request for counsel. (T 177).

Appellant alleged in his motion to suppress, and renews his allegation now, that he made an equivocal request for counsel, which Detectives Mink and Allard should have clarified more thoroughly prior to continued questioning. (R 2321-26; T 340-44, 360-63; Brief of Appellant at 31-33). The trial court ruled that Appellant's comment was "no more than a rhetorical question at As such, it did not require a response from law best. enforcement." (R 2357-58). The State maintains, as it did below, that Appellant's comment was more of a statement than a question and was not intended by Appellant to invoke, even equivocally, his right to counsel. Even were it an equivocal request, it was not an unequivocal request, which the law requires before the police must clarify with questions and/or cease the interview. See State v. Owen, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S246 (Fla. May 8, 1997); Davis v. United States, 512 U.S. 452 (1994).

Appellant alleges, however, that <u>Owen</u> and <u>Davis</u> do not apply to his case because those defendants made equivocal or ambiguous requests for counsel "during substantive questioning," whereas Appellant made his equivocal request "during the process of giving or waiving <u>Miranda</u> rights." **Brief of Appellant** at 23 (emphasis omitted). He believes the timing of the defendants' responses in

¹ The Fourth District Court of Appeal, however, found that the comment was an equivocal request for counsel "under the relevant case law." Almeida v. State, 687 So. 2d 37, 37-38 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), guashed, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S521 (Fla. Aug. 28, 1997).

Owen and Davis was crucial to the Courts' analyses and that the same analyses would not, and should not, apply to his case. Id. at 23-29. To support his contention, Appellant relies on Utah v. Leyva, 906 P. 2d 894 (Utah App. 1995), rev. granted, 919 P. 2d 909 (Utah 1996).

This Court need not address this allegation, however, because the record does not support Appellant's characterization that he made an equivocal request "during the process of giving or waiving Miranda rights." Detective Mink's uncontroverted testimony was that he read Appellant his rights, Appellant acknowledged his understanding of each as they were read, and Appellant waived his rights in writing before the detective began any questioning. 128-36). Once the reading and waiver were complete, Detective Mink began substantive questioning. Appellant confessed to the murder of Frank Ingargiola, and Detective Mink obtained Appellant's consent to tape-record the confession. It was during the subsequent tape-recording that Appellant made the allegedly equivocal request for counsel. However, given Appellant's previous waiver of his rights, and the intermediate substantive questioning, Appellant's characterization that he made an equivocal request for counsel "during the giving or waiving of Miranda rights" is belied by the record. Thus, it is unnecessary for this Court to consider and resolve this argument on the basis of this record.

Alternatively, Appellant claims that, were there no factual distinction between his case and <u>Owen</u> or <u>Davis</u>, this Court should not apply <u>Owen</u> and <u>Davis</u> retroactively to him. **Brief of Appellant**

at 29-31. This Court obviously rejected that argument in the Leath appeal. Almeida, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at 521. See also Owen, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at 247 (applying Davis retroactively to a 1986 confession). As in Owen, reliance on the original Owen opinion and its progeny would result in manifest injustice to the people of this state. Since Appellant has established no legitimate reason why this Court should not apply Davis (through Owen) retroactively to him, this Court should affirm the trial court's denial of his motion to suppress, and his conviction for the first-degree murder of Chiquita Counts.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS BASED ON THE DETECTIVE'S ALLEGED FAILURE TO READVISE APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHTS BEFORE QUESTIONING (Restated).

Appellant claims that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion to suppress, which alleged, in part, that Detectives Abrams and Walker improperly failed to re-advise Appellant of his Miranda rights prior to questioning on the Counts murder. Brief of Appellant at 33-39. The record reveals, however, that Detective Mink read Appellant his rights, and Appellant signed a written waiver of his rights, at 5:16 p.m. (T 127-36). After Appellant confessed to the murder of Frank Ingargiola, Mink taped the confession. During the tape-recording, Appellant acknowledged that he understood all of the rights that the detective had previously read to him from the form, and he agreed to continue on tape. (ST 5-6). When the tape ended at 5:51 p.m., Detective Mink called Detectives Abrams and Walker into the room, so that they could question Appellant about the murders of Marilyn Leath and Chiquita Counts. (T 144-45). As Detectives Abrams and Walker entered, Detective Mink told them that he had informed Appellant of his rights and showed them the waiver form. (T 225, 253). Detective Abrams confirmed with Appellant that he had, in fact, been read his rights: "When Detective Mink was in there, like I said, the rights were gone over, that [Almeida] had already been read his rights, and I confirmed that with him. I did ask him that." (T 225). Thereafter, Detective Abrams asked Appellant if he knew anything about the murders. Appellant confessed his involvement in the Leath murder and agreed to repeat his confession on tape. (T 227-29). During the taped confession, which began at 6:08 p.m., the following discussion occurred:

- Q [By Detective Abrams]. I told you when I came in here a couple of minutes ago that I'm a Fort Lauderdale detective and I'm investigating a murder that happened in Fort Lauderdale, is that right? I need a response.
 - A [By Appellant]. Okay.
- Q. And you agreed to talk to me, is that correct?
 - A. Yes.
- Q. And before talking to me, you talked to the Sunrise detectives?
 - A. Yes.
- Q. Detective Mink and Detective Mike [sic], right?
 - A. Yes.
- Q. They gave you your rights, is that correct?
 - A. Yes.
- Q. You read a form, they read it to you. Did you sign the bottom of the form?
 - A. Yes.
 - Q. Did you understand your rights?
 - A. Yeah, I understand.
- Q. Do you have any questions about them at all?
 - A. No.

(T 233-34). Appellant's second taped confession regarding the Leath murder ended at 6:26 p.m., and Abrams and Walker left the room. (T 253-54).

At 7:00 p.m., Detective Abrams returned with Detective Palazzo to question Appellant about the Counts murder. (T 255). Appellant initially denied involvement, but ultimately confessed to killing her. (T 256-58). The taped confession to this murder began at 7:24 p.m. (T 258-59). Appellant explained that he was initially hesitant to confess because he was ashamed of what he had done and was scared and confused. (T 265-66). He was not confused about what was happening during the interview and was not afraid of the detectives. Rather, he was scared and confused about his future. (T 266-67). The detectives clarified Appellant's understanding of his rights:

- Q. (By Sgt. Palazzo) When Detective Abrams [sic] read you your rights earlier, did you understand everything that he told you?
 - A. Yes.
- Q. (By Sgt. Palazzo) You understood that you could have a lawyer if you wanted one?
 - A. Yes.
- Q. (By Sgt. Palazzo) And that you don't have to talk to us if you don't want to?
 - A. Yes.
- Q. (By Sgt. Palazzo) And then it's been explained to you by myself and Detective Abrams that everything that you say tonight is going to be repeated in court?
 - A. Yes.

Q. (By Detective Abrams) You're not confused about any of that?

A. No.

(T 267). Appellant's third taped statement regarding the Counts murder ended at 7:50 p.m. (T 290).

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